IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,072

BARRY HOFFMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

GREGORY C. SMITH Capital Collateral Counsel Florida Bar No. 279080

LINDA McDERMOTT
Assistant CCC-NR
Florida Bar No. 0102857

JOHN A. TOMASINO Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 106021

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL Northern Region of Florida Post Office Drawer 5498 Tallahassee, FL 32314-5498

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 1981, Barry Hoffman was indicted by a Duval County Grand Jury for the first degree murders of Frank Ihlenfeld and Linda Sue Parrish (R. 1). On March 25, 1982, Mr. Hoffman was charged by information with conspiracy to commit murder in the first degree (R. 21). Pursuant to the State's motion, the trial court consolidated the cases on June 25, 1982 (R. 37).

On June 28, 1982, Mr. Hoffman pleaded guilty to two counts of first degree murder (T. 76-82). In exchange for his plea Mr. Hoffman would receive two concurrent life sentences and the State agreed to *nolle prosse* the conspiracy charge (T. 78). Without counsel, Mr. Hoffman was allowed to withdraw his plea on September 24, 1982 (T. 118).

Mr. Hoffman's capital trial began on January 10, 1983 (T. 170). On January 14, 1983, Mr. Hoffman was found guilty of first degree murder of Mr. Ihlenfeld; guilty of second degree murder of Ms. Parrish; and guilty of conspiracy (R. 120-121).

The trial court held a penalty phase on January 20, 1983. Other than Mr. Hoffman's brief statement, (T. 1179-1181), no evidence was presented to the jury. The jury recommended an advisory sentence of death, by a vote of nine to three, for the first degree murder conviction (R. 122).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Hoffman to death for the first degree murder conviction on February 11, 1983 (R. 131). The trial court found four aggravating circumstances: previously

convicted of a violent felony, (the simultaneous conviction); the murder was committed for pecuniary gain; cold, calculated and premeditated; and heinous atrocious and cruel (R. 131-136). The trial court found that the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel, despite the State's concession that the aggravator did not apply (T. 1162-1163), and without allowing Mr. Hoffman the opportunity to rebut this aggravator. The court also sentenced Mr. Hoffman to one hundred years imprisonment for the second degree murder conviction (R. 128), and thirty years imprisonment for the conspiracy to commit murder conviction (R. 140).

On direct appeal this Court affirmed the conviction and sentences. Hoffman v. State, 474 So. 2d 1178 (Fla. 1985).

On October 2, 1987, Mr. Hoffman timely filed a motion to vacate his conviction and sentence pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 (PC-R1. 6-68). The motion was summarily denied in a one line order on October 7, 1987 (PC-R. 290). Mr. Hoffman's motion for rehearing was pending for over a year before it was denied.

Mr. Hoffman appealed and this Court reversed and remanded. Hoffman v. State, 571 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1990). This Court held:

In the case below, Mr. Hoffman came forward with allegations based on affidavits and other information clearly establishing colorable claims under rule 3.850. For example, he has alleged that the state withheld the names of other persons who purportedly confessed to the murders of which Hoffman was convicted. At argument, the state conceded that such a claim, if valid, would require relief under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). Hoffman has also alleged claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and the failure of counsel to be present when

Hoffman testified in the separate trial of his co-conspirator.

571 So. 2d at 450 (emphasis added).

Also, this Court ordered the State to honor Mr. Hoffman's public records request for access to the state attorney records.

Id. Moreover, the circuit court was ordered to permit Mr.

Hoffman to amend his Rule 3.850 motion once he received all of the public records to which he was entitled. Id.

In June, 1991, Mr. Hoffman filed an amended 3.850 (PC-R2. 1-118). On August 26, 1991, the circuit court summarily denied Mr. Hoffman's amended motion in a one page, form order (PC-R2. 119).

Mr. Hoffman appealed and on December 10, 1992, this Court again reversed and remanded Mr. Hoffman's case with instructions to the circuit court that Mr. Hoffman be permitted to amend his motion after receipt of public records and that a hearing should be held. Hoffman v. State, 613 So. 2d 405, 406 (Fla. 1992).

After once again returning to the circuit court, on April 20, 1993, a hearing regarding public records compliance was held (Supp. R. 21-78). As a result of the hearing, Mr. Hoffman received substantial additional public records (Supp. R. 28).

On June 18, 1993, Mr. Hoffman filed a supplement to his 3.850 (PC-R3. 38-44). After further records litigation, on January 3, 1997, Mr. Hoffman filed an amended 3.850 (PC-R3. 99-219). The State responded on February 21, 1997 (PC-R3. 223-262). On April 11, 1997, the lower court held a https://example.com/humpheness-supplement to his 3.850 (PC-R3. 38-44). After further records litigation, on January 3, 1997, Mr. Hoffman filed an amended 3.850 (PC-R3. 99-219). The State responded on February 21, 1997 (PC-R3. 223-262).

¹ Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

That same day, Mr. Hoffman filed a motion to reset the date of the evidentiary hearing because Mr. Hoffman's second chair attorney and investigator were unable to prepare for the evidentiary hearing due to their involvement in the active death warrant litigation of another client (PC-R3. 269-270).

On April 15, 1997, just two weeks before the scheduled evidentiary hearing, the lower court entered an order, dated the same day as the <u>Huff</u> hearing, granting Mr. Hoffman a limited evidentiary hearing and summarily denying the remainder of his claims (PC-R3. 275-777). The lower court denied Mr. Hoffman's motion to reset the dates of the evidentiary hearing (PC-R3. 278-279).

On April 17, 1997, Mr. Hoffman filed an Amended Motion to Reset the Evidentiary Hearing, further detailing postconviction counsel's inability to properly prepare for the hearing (PC-R3. 283-288). On April 18, 1997, the motion was denied (PC-R3. 282).

On April 28, 1997, Mr. Hoffman filed a motion requesting that Duval County pay for the costs associated with the evidentiary hearing or that the hearing be continued (PC-R3. 308-319). The lower court denied the motion (PC-R3. 303).

Mr. Hoffman petitioned this Court for a writ of prohibition to prevent the lower court from holding the scheduled evidentiary hearing due to the lack of funds and the budget crisis the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative was experiencing. This Court granted Mr. Hoffman a stay until July 15, 1997. Hoffman v. Haddock, 695 So. 2d 682 (Fla. 1997).

The evidentiary hearing was set for July 15, 1997 (PC-R3. 324). Mr. Hoffman filed a Motion to Reset the Evidentiary Hearing because of his designated counsel's conflict with another hearing (PC-R3. 329-332). Judge Haddock contacted Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Court Judge Padgett and Judge Padgett agreed to reschedule the hearing before him to the week before Mr. Hoffman's (PC-T. 23). Mr. Hoffman's designated counsel, Mr. Kissinger, prepared for two evidentiary hearings simultaneously and was forced to conduct hearings back-to-back.

An evidentiary hearing was held on July 15-16, 1997.

On June 29, 1998, the lower court entered an order denying Mr. Hoffman's Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R3. 351-357). Notice of appeal was timely filed (PC-R3. 366-367).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. INTRODUCTION

On September 7, 1980, Frank Ihlenfeld, a fifty-four year old narcotics trafficker, and Linda Sue Parrish, a twenty year old prostitute, were murdered in their hotel room at the Ramada Inn in Jacksonville Beach, Florida. An intensive investigation that included wiretaps and undercover operatives was undertaken, and the investigation focused on James Provost, who was suspected of having procured the murders. The investigation ultimately resulted in the arrest of Barry Hoffman, a heroin addict, entangled in the drug world so that he could support his habit.

Mr. Hoffman was under the influence of narcotics when apprehended

and questioned, and without counsel present gave statements that purported to be incriminating.

After entering a guilty plea and securing a life sentence, Mr. Hoffman, without counsel, was allowed to withdraw his plea. The trial proceeded in January, 1983. Mr. Hoffman was convicted of the first degree murder of Frank Ihlenfeld (R. 120-121). He was also convicted of the second degree murder of Linda Sue Parrish and conspiracy to commit murder (R. 120-121).

At trial, the State presented evidence that Mr. Hoffman had confessed to the FBI agents who arrested Mr. Hoffman,

Jacksonville Beach Police Department detectives and George

"Rocco" Marshall, an alleged co-conspirator who received complete immunity and other benefits for his testimony (T. 683). The only other evidence presented at his trial that connected Mr. Hoffman to the murders was a fingerprint on a cigarette pack found at the scene (T. 893).

During his postconviction proceedings, Mr. Hoffman discovered that several individuals confessed to committing the murders, threatened the victim and possessed intimate knowledge regarding the details of the crime. The State knew of these individuals and failed to inform Mr. Hoffman's trial counsel of their existence. In addition, the physical evidence collected from the scene, but withheld from trial counsel, suggests that Mr. Hoffman's alleged confessions cannot be credible and exculpates Mr. Hoffman.

The State withheld material exculpatory evidence regarding the investigation of this crime. Had trial counsel had this information, it would have enabled the defense to demonstrate that Mr. Hoffman's "confessions" were inaccurate and untrue. As a result of the State's misconduct, the jury that convicted Mr. Hoffman and sentenced him to death was misled by false testimony and deprived relevant exculpatory evidence.

B. THE TRIAL RECORD

After the Public Defender withdrew from his case one day after the indictment was returned, the lower court appointed Richard Nichols to represent Mr. Hoffman (R. 7). Three days later, on November 2, 1981, the State filed a motion to compel Mr. Hoffman's hair specimens (R. 10). The State averred:

2) The deceased, Linda Sue Parrish, was found to have male caucasian hair beneath her fingernails at the time of an autopsy was performed by the Medical Examiner of the Fourth Judicial Circuit.

(R. 10). The lower court granted the motion (R. 11).

Also, on November 3, 1981, the State filed a motion to compel a blood sample from Mr. Hoffman, citing the fact that blood had been found at the scene that did not match either of the victims' (R. 8). Inexplicably, in an order dated one day before the motion and one day before the hearing on this issue, the lower court granted the motion (R. 9).

On November 5, 1981, Mr. Nichols filed a Demand for Discovery (R. 12). Simultaneously, Mr. Nichols filed a motion to

compel the existence of any deals or promises that the State had made with any witnesses (R. 17).

In June, 1982, Mr. Nichols filed a motion to suppress Mr. Hoffman's statements, premised on the fact that Mr. Hoffman was under the influence of drugs at the time of the interrogations (R. 38-39). A "hearing" was held in which Mr. Hoffman testified that he had ingested large quantities of drugs before and during the interrogations (T. 48-67). Mr. Hoffman testified that he requested to speak to an attorney (T. 48-67). Mr. Nichols and the State agreed, that rather than call any witnesses to rebut Mr. Hoffman's testimony, the State could proffer the testimony and the court could rule based on the proffer (T. 48-67). Not surprisingly, the court denied the motion (R. 40).

Shortly thereafter, Mr. Hoffman filed a <u>pro se</u> motion to dismiss Mr. Nichols (R. 41-44), and a motion regarding his conflict with Mr. Nichols. In his motion to dismiss, Mr. Hoffman stated that he believed Mr. Nichols had failed to adequately represent him because:

- A) Defendant gave counsel important defense witnesses to depose or interview to prepare for trial. None were interviewed.
- B) Defendant requested all State witnesses be deposed and all evidenced (sic) examined . . .
- C) Defendant believes the following motions need be made prior to trial which have not been made:
 - 1) Suppression motion
 - 2) Motion for investigator
 - 3) Motion for expert witness

(R. 41-42). Mr. Nichols also requested to withdraw (T. 41-42). On June 25, 1982, the motions were denied (R. 47).

Three days after Mr. Hoffman's <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> motions were denied he pleaded guilty to two counts of first degree murder (R. 73-79). The court accepted Mr. Hoffman's pleas and agreed to sentence him to two concurrent life sentences and the conspiracy charge would be *nolle prossed* (R. 73-79). As part of his plea agreement, Mr. Hoffman was to testify against his alleged coconspirator, Leonard Mazzara (R. 73-79).

Mr. Hoffman was interviewed several times, without counsel present, by Michael Obringer, who also continued to prosecute Mr. Hoffman after Mr. Hoffman withdrew his plea (T. 147-149). Mr. Hoffman testified at Mr. Mazzara's trial to his innocence (T. 88-112). Mr. Hoffman, uncounseled and unrepresented also orally requested that he be allowed to withdraw his plea (T. 96).

On September 24, 1982 Mr. Hoffman filed a <u>pro se</u> motion to withdraw his guilty pleas. That same day a hearing was held wherein Mr. Nichols orally moved to withdraw from representing Mr. Hoffman (T. 115). The trial court allowed Mr. Nichols to withdraw (T. 116). **After** Mr. Nichols was discharged as counsel,

Mr. Nichols failed to appear with Mr. Hoffman when he was called as a critical witness against co-conspirator, Leonard Mazzara. However, when Mr. Mazzara was subpoenaed for Mr. Hoffman's trial, Mr. Mazzara appeared with counsel. In fact, the trial court went to great lengths to assure Mr. Mazzara that he would be represented during his testimony. The trial court erred in not allowing Mr. Hoffman to develop the record as to why Nichols failed to appear at this critical stage of Mr. Hoffman's proceedings.

the court considered and granted Mr. Hoffman's motion to withdraw his pleas (T. 118). Therefore, Mr. Hoffman was without counsel at yet another critical stage in his capital trial proceedings.

On October 1, 1982, the court appointed Jack Harris to represent Mr. Hoffman (T. 123).

On November 15, 1982, Mr. Harris filed a Demand for Penalty Phase Discovery, in which he requested "[r]eports of statements of experts . . . including results of physical or mental examinations and scientific tests, experiments or comparisons" (R. 83-84). The lower court denied this motion (R. 101). However, at a hearing on December 21, 1982, the State agreed to provide discovery:

THE COURT: Let's get additional discovery first. Any objection to that one?

MR. OBRINGER: Let me see that, Your Honor, to make sure I'm talking about the same one.

* * *

THE COURT: In other words would you comply with that one?

MR. OBRINGER: Yes, sir.

(T. 142-144).

At that same hearing, the trial court granted Mr. Hoffman's motion for rehearing on the motion to suppress (T. 145). On the first day of trial, the lower court held a second hearing on Mr. Hoffman's Motion to Suppress (T. 170-251). Mr. Harris relied on the previous written motion (T. 145). Mr. Hoffman again testified that he was under the influence of drugs when he was

interrogated by the FBI and later by the Jacksonville Beach Police Department detectives (T. 234-236). At this hearing, the State presented the testimony of Detective Dorn and FBI Agent Lupekas (T. 192-217, 219-249). Agent Lupekas testified that he was present when Mr. Hoffman called Mr. Provost (T. 207). He also admitted that when Mr. Hoffman called Mr. Provost, Mr. Hoffman asked Mr. Provost if there was anything he could do to help and that Agent Lupekas believed that "meant legally, an attorney" (T. 208). Once again, the trial court denied the motion (T. 251).

The trial began shortly after the conclusion of the Motion to Suppress hearing. During his opening statement, Mr. Harris told the jury:

I think that the evidence and the lack of the evidence will also show that Barry Hoffman's so called confession given in Jackson, Michigan, which he denies making, was obtained from him while he was addicted to narcotics and while he was under the influence of drugs. He will testify that in fact when he returned to Jacksonville he had to undergo a process called detoxification, a special regimen of medical treatment administered in the Duval County Jail.

I think the evidence will also show that the so-called confession didn't contain any information that had not already been published in the newspapers within days of the killings back in September of 1980.

I think the evidence will also show that this so-called confession was the only statement taken by Detective Dorn and Maxwell in this case. It was not reduced to writing. In other words, written down on paper and then signed by the person making the statement. So, the confession exists only in the minds of the people who claim to have heard it.

(T. 476). Mr. Harris' theory of the case was clear: Mr. Hoffman did not make the inculpatory statements attributed to him. And without the statements, the state could not meet it's burden of proof.

In furtherance of attacking the State's case and showing that the alleged confessions were inconsistent with the evidence, Mr. Harris cross examined Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) serologist, Agent Steve Platt, about the blood evidence found at the crime scene (T. 576-582). Agent Platt admitted that blood evidence was found at the scene that did not match the victims, Mr. Hoffman or co-defendant White (T. 576-582). See also Exhibits 12-16. Agent Platt testified that type "O" blood was found at the scene (T. 578-579). Furthermore, Agent Platt testified that Mr. Hoffman was a secretor, yet none of the cigarette butts found in the room and tested matched Mr. Hoffman's "ABO" blood type which would be found in Mr. Hoffman's saliva (T. 578-580). Finally, Agent Platt testified that he did not have any information about hair analysis conducted in this case (T. 581). As to the hair evidence, during the cross examination of the medical examiner, Dr. Lipkovic, the following exchange occurred:

- Q: Did Miss Parrish have any hair or skin clutchings when you examined her?
- A: I did not detect anything with the naked eye, and that's the only way I examined it.
- (T. 632). This testimony contradicted the State's motion to compel hair samples from Mr. Hoffman in which the State claimed

that the medical examiner identified male caucasian hair under Ms. Parrish's fingernails (R. 10).

Mr. Harris also pursued a similar line of questioning with FDLE Agent Ernest Hamm (T. 898-899). Agent Hamm testified that he did not recover any hair samples or "skin clutchings" from the victim's body (T. 898-899).

The State did not ask any of it's witnesses a single question about hair collection, analysis or results. The State's case was largely if not entirely based on Mr. Hoffman's "confessions".

During the State's closing argument the prosecutor argued that the physical evidence matched "perfectly" with Mr. Hoffman's confession (T. 1063). The jury was led to believe that the physical evidence was consistent with Mr. Hoffman's statements and therefore the statements were voluntary and reliable.

During the defense's closing argument, Mr. Harris told the jury that the "confessions" were "a big part of the evidence" (T. 1090). Therefore, Mr. Harris attempted to illustrate that the physical evidence did not match the "confessions" and they were therefore unreliable.

The jury found Mr. Hoffman guilty of first degree murder of Mr. Ihlenfeld, guilty of second degree murder of Ms. Parrish, and guilty of conspiracy to commit murder (R. 120-121, T. 1138-1139).

A week later, on January 20, 1983, the trial court conducted the penalty phase. During the charge conference, the State stipulated to the statutory mitigator of no significant criminal

record and to the fact that Mr. Hoffman's co-conspirators, Lennie Mazzara and James White, received life sentences (T. 1150-1151). As to the aggravators, the State agreed that the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravator was inapplicable to the case and the trial judge agreed not to give it (T. 1162-1163).

Mr. Harris also requested that the court read the instruction regarding the inability of Mr. Hoffman to appreciate the criminality of his conduct because of Mr. Hoffman's drug addiction, but the court denied his request (T. 1164-1167).

After a brief statement by Mr. Hoffman defense counsel told the court that he had nothing further to present (T. 1179-1181).

In the State's closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury that the murder had been committed for pecuniary gain and that there were no excuses for Mr. Hoffman (T. 1186).

Mr. Harris' closing argument consisted of four and a half transcript pages and focused on the sentences Mr. Hoffman's coconspirators received (T. 1194).

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