BARRY HOFFMAN,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 94,072

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA J. YATES ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 293237

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

- 40 -

that plea. In a similar situation, however, this Court has stated that "the policy of fostering frank discussion between prosecution and defense" does not "require extending protection to statements made in fulfillment of an agreed-to bargain." <u>Groover v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 226, 228 (Fla. 1984). The same reasoning applies to a defendant's lack of need, after a plea is entered, for the protection that counsel can provide, i.e., guilt has been established and there is no need for further protection.

Hoffman argues that he "has been severely punished as a result of exercising his constitutional rights." (Initial brief at 78). He and he alone, however, held his fate in his hands. His willful refusal to uphold his part of the bargain led directly to his current situation. As this Court stated in discussing Hoffman's claim of prosecutorial vindictiveness:

> Hoffman had the choice of abiding by the plea agreement or not. When he refused to go along, the agreement became null and void as if it had never existed. A defendant cannot be allowed to arrange a plea bargain, back out of his part of the bargain, and yet insist the prosecutor uphold his end of the agreement.

<u>Hoffman</u>, 474 So.2d at 1182; <u>see also Lopez v. State</u>, 536 So.2d 226 (Fla. 1988); <u>Groover</u>; <u>Brown v. State</u>, 367 So.2d 616 (Fla. 1979).

Hoffman also argues that a hearing is needed on his claim of prosecutorial vindictiveness. Hoffman raised this claim on direct appeal by arguing that "the state improperly sought the death penalty to punish him for not giving testimony against a co-

- 41 -

defendant." <u>Hoffman</u>, 474 So.2d at 1182. The Court found no merit to this argument, <u>Id</u>., and the claim is now procedurally barred.

Postconviction movants are procedurally barred from raising an issue presented on direct appeal by changing the ground upon which the issue is presented. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Teffeteller</u>. Hoffman's current assertion that he was without counsel is a poorly veiled attempt to raise again the issue of prosecutorial vindictiveness. As such, it is procedurally barred. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Teffeteller</u>; <u>Rivera</u>. The claim of ineffectiveness is insufficient to overcome the procedural bar and allow Hoffman a second appeal on this issue. Therefore, the circuit court's finding this issue to be procedurally barred should be affirmed.

#### C. <u>Prosecutorial Argument</u>

Hoffman argues that the prosecutor's arguments in both the guilt and penalty phases "so infected the proceedings with unfairness as to make the ultimate sentence of death unconstitutional." (Initial brief at 80). This was claim VI in the second amended motion (II 137), and the circuit court summarily denied it because it had been raised on direct appeal and found to have no merit. (II 276).

Hoffman points to two areas of concern: 1) the prosecutor's referring to Parrish's murder in arguing that Hoffman should be sentenced to death for killing Ihlenfeld; and 2) explaining why Hoffman deserved the death penalty and White did not. The trial

- 42 -

court, as well as the prosecutor, relied on the facts of Parrish's death to support the death sentence. When challenged on direct appeal, this Court held:

The judge's finding that Hoffman had previously been convicted of a violent felony was based upon Hoffman's conviction for the second-degree murder of Ms. Parrish. Hoffman argues this finding is in error because the evidence showed that James White, and not he, committed the murder of Ms. Parrish. This argument ignores the fact that as Mr. White's accomplice, Hoffman was a principal to the murder of Ms. Parrish. His conviction of second-degree murder, standing alone, is sufficient to show the existence of this aggravating circumstance.

Hoffman next complains that the trial court erred in considering the manner of Ms. Parrish's death in making his findings. The judge did not consider the manner of Ms. Parrish's death as a separate aggravating circumstance, but rather considered it in support of his finding that Hoffman had previously been convicted of a violent felony. Although this evidence was not necessary to support judge's finding, the since а conviction for second-degree murder inherently involves violence to another person, we find no error in the judge's having considered it.

<u>Hoffman</u>, 474 So.2d at 1181-82.

As to any harm in explaining White's role in these murders,

the Court held:

Finally, appellant argues that the sentence of death here violates his right to equal protection of law in view of the fact that Mazzara, who procured the murders, and White, who was appellant's accomplice in carrying them out, each received consecutive sentences of life imprisonment for their roles in the crimes. State's witness Marshall received immunity from prosecution. Appellant relies on <u>Slater v. State</u>, 316 So.2d 539 (Fla. 1975), but his case is not like <u>Slater</u>. The decisions of this Court make clear that it is permissible to impose different sentences on capital codefendants whose various degrees of participation and culpability are different from one another. Moreover, the exercise of prosecutorial discretion in granting immunity to a less culpable accomplice, co-conspirator, or aider and abettor, does not render invalid the imposition of an otherwise appropriate death sentence.

Id. at 1182 (citations omitted).

Because he challenged the prosecutor's comments on direct appeal, this claim is procedurally barred. <u>LeCroy v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 236 (Fla. 1998); <u>Ragsdale v. State</u>, 720 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, rearguing an issue on different grounds is also procedurally barred. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Teffeteller</u>.

Hoffman also argues that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's comments that he complains about now. Review of the prosecutor's argument, however, reveals that the complained-about comments were not error, did not prejudice Hoffman, were fair comments on the evidence, and were made to rebut defense comments. The comments were not improper, and, therefore, counsel's failure to object was not the result of ineffectiveness. <u>Cf. Muhammad v. State</u>, 426 So.2d 533, 538 (Fla. 1982) ("Whether to object is a matter of trial tactics which are left to the discretion of the attorney so long as his performance is within the range of what is expected of reasonably competent

- 44 -

counsel."). The allegation of ineffectiveness, therefore, is insufficient to overcome the procedural bar. <u>Ragsdale</u>.

The circuit court's order finding this issue procedurally barred should be affirmed.

# D. Cold, Calculated, and Premeditated Aggravator

Hoffman argues that the cold, calculated, and premeditated (CCP) aggravator "is unconstitutionally vague, overbroad, arbitrary, and capricious on its face, and as applied here" (initial brief at 86) and that his jury was improperly instructed on the aggravator. (Initial brief at 89). This was claim VII in the second amended motion (II 169), and the circuit court summarily denied it as procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal.<sup>7</sup> (II 276).

The complaint about the constitutionality of the CCP aggravator is procedurally barred because Hoffman did not object on that ground at trial and raise the issue on direct appeal. <u>Downs</u> v. State, 740 So.2d 506 (Fla. 1999); <u>Bush v. State</u>, 682 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1996); <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994); <u>Chandler</u>. The complaint about the constitutionality of the instruction is also procedurally barred because Hoffman did not object to the wording of the instruction at trial and raise the issue on direct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Hoffman states that during his "direct appeal this Court did not then have the benefit of <u>Maynard v. Cartwright</u>, 108 S.Ct. 1853 (1988)." (Initial brief at 85). However, no claim as to the CCP aggravator was raised in the direct appeal.

appeal. <u>Downs</u>; <u>Bush</u>; <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1995); <u>Crump v. State</u>, 654 So.2d 545 (Fla. 1995); <u>Chandler</u>.

Even if this issue were cognizable now, no relief would be warranted because the facts support finding CCP applicable to this brutal contract killing. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Archer v. State</u>, 673 So.2d 17 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 519 U.S. 876 (1996); <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1080 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 512 U.S. 1227 (1994). Moreover, this Court has repeatedly upheld the constitutionality of the CCP aggravator. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 244 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 516 U.S. 1128 (1996); <u>Fennie v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 95 (Fla.), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 513 U.S. 1159 (1995).

The circuit court's finding this issue to be procedurally barred should be affirmed.

# E. Ineffectiveness Regarding the Stipulated-to Mitigators.

Hoffman argues that trial counsel was ineffective regarding the stipulated-to mitigators of no significant criminal history and the co-conspirators' sentences. This was claim VIII in the second amended motion (II 179), and the circuit court denied it as procedurally barred. (II 276).

At the penalty-phase charge conference the parties stipulated that the jury should be told that Hoffman had no significant criminal record and that Leonard Mazzara and James White received sentences of life imprisonment in connection with these murders. (ROA XI 1150-56). As a preliminary matter, the court instructed

- 46 -

the jury on those stipulations. (ROA XI 1178-79). During closing argument, the prosecutor mentioned the stipulated-to mitigators (ROA XI 1182, 1187), but urged the jury to find that the aggravators warranted Hoffman's being sentenced to death. (ROA XI 1190-91). Defense counsel, on the other hand, argued that with the mitigators, especially the disparate treatment of White, Marshall, and Mazzara, Hoffman should not be sentenced to death. (ROA XI 1192-95). The trial court made the following findings as to these mitigators:

> (a) The Defendant has no significant history of conviction of prior criminal activity. However, the Defendant did take the witness stand and admit to making his living in whole or in part by selling drugs both before and after the murder.

> > \* \*

\*

(c) The jury was informed, as а mitigating circumstance, that the two coconspirators, who were each convicted separately of first degree murder, received sentences of life imprisonment, and the Court so finds. The Court also notes, however, that James White was extremely young, had little criminal record, and took a secondary role in the murders, and that Leonard Mazzara did not participate directly in the murders, but acted merely as a "procurer," and he therefore did not come under several of the aggravating circumstances which exist for Mr. Hoffman.

(ROA I 135). The court then weighed the aggravators and mitigators as follows:

14. While these two mitigating circumstances exist, they are far outweighed in quality and substance by the aggravating

circumstances which are found in the record. A reasoned weighing of the aggravating and mitigating circumstances found in the record herein clearly demonstrates that the qualitative balance scales tip heavily toward the side of aggravating circumstances.

# (ROA I 136).

On direct appeal Hoffman argued that, in light of the treatment received by Mazzara, White, and Marshall, his death sentence constituted an equal protection violation. This Court found no merit to the claim. <u>Hoffman</u>, 474 So.2d at 1182. He did not challenge the court's findings as to the stipulated-to mitigators, however, or the argument about or instruction on those mitigators.

Now, Hoffman claims that counsel was ineffective for allowing the court to instruct the jury that it "may," rather than "must," consider the stipulated-to mitigators and for allowing the prosecutor to argue in derogation of those mitigators. If the merits of this claim had been raised on direct appeal, this Court would have found no error in the instruction, in the prosecutor's argument, or in the trial court's findings. Although the state stipulated to the existence of these mitigators, it did not stipulate to the weight to be given them and did not waive its right to argue that the aggravators warranted imposing the death penalty. None of the cases cited by Hoffman hold that the standard instruction given to the jury was incorrect or that the court had to give any certain weight to the stipulated-to mitigators.

- 48 -

Instead, this Court has repeatedly held that "the weight to be given a mitigator is left to the trial judge's discretion." <u>Mann</u> <u>v. State</u>, 603 So.2d 1141, 1144 (Fla. 1992); <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 24 Fla.L.Weekly S393 (Fla. Aug. 19, 1999); <u>Hill v. State</u>, 727 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1998).

At Hoffman's trial the court properly instructed the jury, the prosecutor did not exceed the bounds of proper and permissible argument, and the court did not abuse its discretion in considering and weighing the stipulated-to mitigators. Because there is no merit to Hoffman's basic complaint, counsel cannot have rendered ineffective assistance. <u>Turner v. Dugger</u>, 614 So.2d 1075 (Fla. 1992); <u>Melendez v. State</u>, 612 So.2d 1366 (Fla. 11992). The claim of ineffectiveness is another instance of clothing a nonmeritorious and procedurally barred claim in the guise of ineffectiveness in order to gain a second appeal. The circuit court's summary denial should be affirmed.

#### F. Jurors' Sense of Responsibility

Hoffman argues that his jurors' sense of responsibility was diluted in violation of <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). This was claim IX in the second amended motion. (II 189). The circuit court found the issue to be procedurally barred and summarily denied it. (II 276).

- 49 -

Hoffman did not object and raise this claim at trial and on appeal. It is, therefore, procedurally barred. <u>Ragsdale</u>; <u>Bottoson</u> <u>v. State</u>, 674 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1996); <u>Cherry</u>.

Hoffman also complains that counsel was ineffective for not objecting and raising this issue at trial. (Initial brief at 98). As this Court has held repeatedly, however, there is no merit to this issue. <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 718 So.2d 138 (Fla. 1998); <u>Johnson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 660 So.2d 637 (Fla. 1995), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 517 U.S. 1159 (1996); <u>Turner</u>; <u>Kight v. Dugger</u>, 574 So.2d 1066 (Fla. 1990). Because there is no merit to the basic complaint, counsel cannot be ineffective for failing to preserve this issue. <u>Turner</u>; <u>Melendez</u>; <u>Kight</u>.

This Court, therefore, should affirm the circuit court's denial of this claim.

#### G. Burden Shift

Hoffman argues that the penalty-phase jury instructions improperly shifted to him the burden of proving that life imprisonment rather than death was the appropriate sentence. He raised this as claim XI in the second amended motion (II 202), and the circuit court found it procedurally barred.

Trial counsel was concerned about the weighing instruction, but ultimately agreed that the standard instruction was proper. (ROA XI 1168-71). This issue was not raised on appeal and is procedurally barred in collateral proceedings. <u>Downs; Young v.</u>

- 50 -

<u>State</u>, 739 So.2d 553 (Fla. 1999); <u>LeCroy</u>; <u>Ragsdale</u>. Even if cognizable now, however, no relief would be warranted because, as this Court has held repeatedly, there is no merit to the burden-shifting argument. <u>E.q.</u>, <u>Johnson</u>.

The circuit court's summary denial of this issue should be affirmed.

#### H. <u>Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel Aggravator</u>

Hoffman argues that the trial court improperly found that the heinous, atrocious, or cruel (HAC) aggravator had been established. This was claim XII in the second amended motion. (II 207). The circuit court summarily denied it as procedurally barred because it had been raised on direct appeal. (II 277).

Hoffman argues that he had no notice that the HAC aggravator would be considered and found by the trial court. He claims that, "due to lack of adequate notice," he "was unable to advance argument to create a reasonable doubt that this was not an appropriate aggravator." (Initial brief at 101). This issue is procedurally barred because Hoffman attacked the applicability of the HAC aggravator on direct appeal, and this Court found no merit to the claim. <u>Hoffman</u>, 474 So.2d at 1182. Using a different argument to relitigate in collateral proceedings an issue raised and decided on direct appeal is inappropriate. <u>Teffeteller</u>. The circuit court's finding this issue procedurally barred should be affirmed.

- 51 -

#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons the State of Florida asks this Court to affirm the circuit court's denial of Hoffman's second amended motion for postconviction relief.